THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Sep 11 2023

APPEAL FROM MARLBORO COUNTY
The Hon. Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No.: 2022-001480

Daisy Frederick,.....Respondent,

v.

Daniel Lee McDowell,.....Petitioner.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

R. Hawthorne Barrett (SC Bar No.: 16973)
Turner Padgett Graham & Laney, P.A.
P.O. Box 1473
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 227-4219
tbarrett@turnerpadgett.com

Attorney for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's failure to grant a new trial absolute or new trial *nisi remittitur*, where the amount of the verdict was either so grossly excessive as to be motivated by passion prejudice, or other issues beyond the record evidence, or was merely excessive, based on the absence of any evidence of future damages?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arose from an automobile accident that occurred in North Carolina on April 29, 2015. The Respondent Daisy Frederick ("Frederick") filed her Summons and Complaint on April 1, 2016. [R. pp. 10-14; App. pp. 48-53.] The Petitioner Daniel Lee McDowell ("McDowell") filed and served a timely Answer on May 25, 2016. [R. pp. 15-17; App. pp. 54-56.] The parties then conducted full discovery.

The case was called to trial before the Honorable Paul M. Burch on January 29, 2018. During a pre-trial hearing, Judge Burch ruled that the substantive law of North Carolina applied because the subject accident occurred there. Frederick did not challenge that ruling [R. pp. 47-48; App. pp. 86-87.]

At trial, Frederick testified on her own behalf. She also presented testimony by other witnesses, including engineer Ken Richardson. During his testimony, Richardson was permitted to testify about measurements and other conclusions drawn by the North Carolina law enforcement officer who responded to the accident, even though that officer did not testify. McDowell's attorney made timely objections to that testimony, which were overruled. [R. pp. 42-43, 101; App. pp. 81-82; 140.]

Following the testimony of those witnesses, counsel for McDowell moved for a directed verdict. [R. pp. 104-106; App. pp. 143-145.] Counsel based the directed verdict motion on the following grounds: (1) the only reasonable inference from the evidence was that Frederick's negligence contributed to cause the accident, and therefore she was barred from any recovery under the North Carolina law of contributory negligence, (2) there was no evidence to support an award of punitive damages, and (3) there was no evidence of any permanent impairment or disability that would justify an award of future damages. [R. pp. 104-106; App. pp. 143-145.] The judge granted the motion as to punitive damages, but denied it on the other two grounds. [R. pp. 106-108; App. pp. 143-145.]

Because he had already testified during Frederick's case, McDowell's case consisted only of testimony by engineer Don Roberts, who was admitted as an expert. Based on his examination of the accident site, Roberts testified there was a line-of-sight of at least 700 feet from the place on the roadway where Frederick's vehicle was before the accident occurred. [R. pp. 117-122; App. pp. 156-161.] Roberts further testified that a driver traveling at 40 miles per hour (the speed at which Frederick testified she was traveling before the collision) would have needed only 213 feet to stop the vehicle to avoid something in the roadway. [R. pp. 122-127; App. pp. 161-166.]

McDowell's counsel renewed the motions for a directed verdict at the close of the evidence. [R. p. 139; App. p. 178.] The judge again denied the motions. [R. p. 139; App. p. 178.]

During his closing argument, Frederick's attorney identified the following special damages: (1) \$171,909.87 in medical expenses due,¹ (2) and \$53,460 in lost wages. [R. pp. 141-143; App. pp. 180-182.] However, Frederick's attorney did not refer to any claim for future medical bills or lost wages. Frederick's attorney expressly told the jury that future lost wages were not warranted. [R. p. 143, lines 12-14; App. p. 182.] The attorney did request an award for future pain, even though there was no medical evidence to support such a claim, and Frederick gave only general testimony about still having some pain as of the time of trial. [R. pp. 145-146; App. pp. 184-185.]

After the closing arguments, counsel for McDowell again renewed the directed verdict motions, which the judge denied. [R. p. 147; App. p. 186.] Following the jury instructions, McDowell's attorney objected to the charges regarding permanent disability, future damages, and the statutory life expectancy, but the judge overruled the objection. [R. pp. 154-155; App. pp. 193-194.]

The jury deliberated for little more than one hour before returning a verdict in Frederick's favor for \$5,000,000. [R. p. 159; App. p. 198.] McDowell filed timely post-trial motions on February 14, 2018. [R. pp. 18-26; App. pp. 157-165.] McDowell sought a judgment notwithstanding the verdict for the same reasons raised in his directed verdict motions at trial. [R. pp. 18-20; App. pp. 57-59.] Alternatively, McDowell moved a new trial absolute and/or a new trial *nisi remittitur* based on: (1) the absence of evidence to support the verdict, (2) the lack of any medical evidence to support a claim for permanent impairment or disability, (3) improper testimony by Frederick's expert about the subjective

¹ Under the controlling law of North Carolina, Frederick was not allowed to claim or recover the full amount of her medical bills, only the amounts that her medical insurer had not paid.

opinions and information contained in the police report for the accident, (4) the improper admission of the full amount of Frederick's medical bills, (5) the erroneous decision to charge the mortality table given the absence of any evidence of permanent impairment or disability, and (6) the grossly excessive or merely excessive amount of the verdict. [R. pp. 18-26; App. pp. 157-165.]

The trial judge heard the post-trial motions on August 21, 2019. [R. pp. 210-221; App. pp. 249-260.] However, the judge did not rule until May 12, 2020, when he filed an order denying all the motions. [R. pp. 3-5; App. pp. 42-44.] Because the order contained an inaccurate statement about the law that was applied to the case, McDowell made a timely motion under Rule 59(e), SCRCP, asking the judge to amend the previous order. [R. pp. 27-28; App. pp. 66-67.] The judge filed an amended order that corrected the earlier misstatement of the controlling law. [R. pp. 6-9; App. pp. 45-47.] McDowell then filed a timely Notice of Appeal.

The Court of Appeals issued an opinion on July 20, 2022, in which it affirmed the trial court's rulings. McDowell filed and served a timely Petition for Rehearing on August 4, 2022. [App. pp. 300-329.] The Court of Appeals denied that petition in Order filed on September 22, 2022. [App. p. 351.] McDowell then filed a timely petition in this Court seeking a writ of certiorari, which the Court granted in part and denied in part in an Order filed on August 10, 2023.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 29, 2015, McDowell was traveling from his home in South Carolina to his workplace in North Carolina. [R. pp. 49, 83; App. pp. 88, 122.] McDowell was traveling approximately 40 miles per hour. [R. p. 92; App. p. 131.] He came to a portion of the two-

lane road that had a slight curve to the right followed by another slight curve to the left and then a straight away. [R. p. 92; App. p. 131.] As he was coming out of the second curve, his truck suddenly spun around and came to rest in the opposite lane of travel. [R. pp. 92-93; App. pp. 131-132.] After composing himself, McDowell tried to back up into his original lane of travel. [R. pp. 92-93; App. pp. 131-132.] Before he could do so, another vehicle collided with his truck. [R. p. 93; App. p. 132.]

The other vehicle was being driven by Frederick. According to Frederick, as she approached a curve in the road, she saw a truck appear in her lane of travel. [R. pp. 54-55; App. pp. 93-94.] Frederick said she saw the truck when it was about three car lengths away from her vehicle. [R. pp. 54-55; App. pp. 93-94.] Yet, Frederick never applied her brakes or took any other measure to try to avoid colliding with the truck. [R. p. 79; App. p. 118.]

Frederick sustained physical injuries as a result of the collision and incurred medical expenses of \$171,909.87 that were not paid by her health insurer. [R. p. 73; App. p. 112.] She also claimed she was also unable to work from the date of the accident until the date of trial (January 29, 2018). [R. p. 70; App. p. 109.] However, she stopped receiving medical treatments for her injuries in December of 2016, and there was no evidence – medical or otherwise – of any permanent impairment or disability.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Under South Carolina common law, “[a] trial judge may grant a new trial upon the facts if the judge determines the verdict is contrary to the fair preponderance of the evidence.” *McEntire v. Mooregard Exterminating Service, Inc.*, 353 S.C. 629, 633, 578 S.E.2d 746, 748 (Ct. App. 2003). The question of whether or not to grant a new trial upon

the facts is one addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge, and the appellate court reviews that decision on an abuse of discretion standard. *Id.* at 633, 578 S.E.2d at 748.

A trial court must grant a new trial absolute “if the verdict is so grossly excessive that it shocks the conscience of the court and clearly indicates the amount of the verdict was the result of caprice, passion, prejudice, partiality, corruption, or other improper motive.” *Knoke v. S.C. Dept. of Parks, Recreation & Tourism*, 342 S.C. 136, 141, 478 S.E.2d 256, 258 (1996). When a verdict is “grossly excessive and the amount awarded is so shockingly disproportionate to the injuries as to indicate that the jury acted out of passion, caprice, prejudice, or other consideration not founded on the evidence, it becomes the duty of [the appellate court], as well as the trial court, to set aside the verdict.” *Sanders v. Prince*, 304 S.C. 236, 238, 403 S.E.2d 640, 642 (1991). “The grant or denial of new trial motions rests within the discretion of the circuit court, and its decision will not be disturbed on appeal unless its findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusions reached are controlled by error of law.” *Brinkley v. S.C. Dept. of Corrections*, 386 S.C. 182, 185, 687 S.E.2d 54, 56 (Ct. App. 2009).

A trial court also has the authority to grant a new trial *nisi remittitur* when it finds the amount of the verdict to be merely excessive. *RRR, Inc. v. Toggas*, 378 S.C. 174, 182, 662 S.E.2d 438, 442 (Ct. App. 2008). “Compelling reasons, however, must be given to justify invading the jury’s province in this manner.” *Id.* at 183, 662 S.E.2d at 442-43. Nevertheless, “[t]he circuit court has wide discretionary power to reduce the amount of a verdict which, in its judgment, is excessive.” *Id.* at 183-84, 662 S.E.2d at 443. An appellate court reviews a decision to grant or deny a motion for a new trial *nisi remittitur* on an abuse of discretion standard. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's decision not to grant a new trial or a new trial *nisi remittitur*, because the record evidence does not support the verdict, which was either grossly excessive or merely excessive.

Frederick presented only the following special damages at trial: \$171,909.87 in outstanding medical bills and \$53,460 in lost wages. Thus, the total amount of specials submitted to the jury was \$225,369.87. Although that is not an insignificant number, it cannot justify the \$5,000,000 verdict returned in this case. The other evidence of intangible damages also fails to support that award. To the contrary, when the totality of the evidence is viewed fairly, the amount of the verdict is clearly excessive, if not grossly so. Therefore, the trial court should have granted a new trial or a new trial *nisi remittitur*, and the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's decision.

There is no dispute that Frederick sustained serious injuries in the accident. She had a broken femur and a broken ankle, which required more than one surgery to repair, and she had an extended recovery period that involved additional care and physical therapy. As a result, she incurred a little over \$170,000 in medical bills, and she lost just over \$50,000 in income during the time when she could not work. Those facts do appear in the record, and McDowell does not claim otherwise. But all of those damages were in the past by the time the trial occurred. There was no evidence whatsoever that Frederick would sustain or experience any compensable damages in the future. That absence of evidence makes the verdict unsupported and excessive, and it entitles McDowell to relief on appeal.

Frederick testified that she was still experiencing some pain as of the trial date. Yet, there was no evidence even to suggest, let alone prove, that her pain was severe or that it would continue into the future. Frederick's treating surgeon, whose video deposition was

played at trial, never expressed an opinion that she would have future problems with pain. [R. pp. 162-196; App. pp. 201-235.] In fact, he was not even asked to give that opinion. No other medical experts testified, which means the medical evidence was completely silent on the issue of future pain. As a result, the jury had no evidentiary basis to determine whether and to what extent a person who had sustained those types of injuries would have pain in the months or years following the trial.

That lack of evidence is crucial because it opened the door for impermissible speculation by the jury. It is very likely that the jury heard Frederick say she was still having pain at the time of trial and then made the leap on its own to a conclusion that her pain would continue. But any such conclusion was necessarily based on guesswork, not evidence. This fact renders the verdict invalid. *See Carlyle v. Tuomey Hosp.*, 305 S.C. 187, 193, 407 S.E.2d 630, 633 (1991) (“Neither the existence, causation nor amount of damages can be left to conjecture, guess or speculation.”).

The same reasoning applies to the issue of future medical care and related expenses. Frederick’s surgeon did not testify that she would need any accident-related medical care in the future, and Frederick did not present any other testimony, medical or otherwise, to that effect. As a result, there was no life care plan, and Frederick submitted no evidence of future treatments or future expenses to the jury. She also did not testify that she had any plans or intention to seek such care in the future. To the contrary, she testified that she had not seen a medical provider for her injuries since December 2016, which was more than a year before the trial began. [R. p. 80; App. p. 119.]

Similarly, there was no evidence that Frederick had any permanent impairment or disability as a result of her injuries. The treating surgeon did not even hint at the existence

of any permanent condition, and he certainly did not give Frederick a disability or impairment rating. The only reasonable inference to draw from the surgeon's testimony was that the surgeries and related treatments fully resolved the injuries Frederick sustained in the accident. Again, this means that the jury could not have permissibly considered any impairment or disability when arriving at its verdict. As far as the record evidence demonstrated, no such impairment or disability existed.

There was also no evidence that Frederick would have any future lost income. She did not present a vocational rehabilitation expert to opine that she could not work in the future, nor did her treating surgeon give that type of opinion. Frederick herself did not even claim that she would not be able to return to work in the future. In fact, during his closing argument, Frederick's attorney stated that she would be able to work, and he did not make any arguments in favor of a claim for future lost income. [R. p. 143; App. p. 182.]

The total absence of evidence regarding future damages is significant for two reasons. First, it demonstrates the trial court's error in charging the jury on the mortality tables. A party objecting to a jury charge is entitled to a new trial if the substance of the charge was both erroneous and prejudicial. *See Burroughs v. Worsham*, 352 S.C. 382, 574 S.E.2d 215 (Ct. App. 2002). Here, that portion of the charge was both erroneous and prejudicial. It was erroneous because without any actual evidence of future damages, there was no basis for the court to give that charge. It was prejudicial because it invited the jury to speculate on what damages Frederick would experience for the years remaining in her

life expectancy, even though no evidence of such damages existed. That speculation likely contributed to the excessive nature of the resulting verdict.²

Second, the absence of future damages evidence reveals the reversible error in the trial court's decision not to grant a new trial or a new trial *nisi remittitur*. If future damages are removed from the equation, as they must be based on the lack of evidence, all that remains are the following: (1) serious, but non-permanent injuries; (2) a course of treatment that lasted roughly a year-and-a-half and then ended; (3) pain during that period; (4) successful treatments that resolved the injuries; (5) a finite amount of medical bills; and (6) a finite amount of lost wages. Although those factors are not insignificant, they cannot possibly support a verdict that was more than twenty-two times the amount of the combined total specials.

Given specials of roughly \$225,000, the verdict of \$5,000,000 was grossly excessive. Without any evidence of a permanent impairment or disability, there is simply no way to explain such a verdict without concluding that the jury based its decision on factors other than the record evidence. Perhaps the jurors heard the charge regarding the mortality table and concluded, erroneously, that they were obligated to give Frederick an award for unspecified and speculative future damages. Perhaps the jurors sought to punish McDowell even though no claim for punitive damages was before them. Or perhaps the jurors simply allowed sympathy for a young, single mother to sway their decision.

² McDowell acknowledges that this Court granted his petition solely on the issue of whether the lower courts erred in refusing to grant a new trial or new trial *nisi remittitur* based on the amount of the verdict. However, McDowell nonetheless asserts that the error in charging the mortality tables is relevant to the issue before the Court because it suggests one explanation for the excessive amount of the verdict.

Regardless of what actually motivated the jurors, they could not have based their decision solely on the evidence presented at trial. No reasonable jury could have awarded such an excessive amount based on a comparably small amount of past special damages and no evidence of any additional or future damages. Therefore, the trial court erred in refusing to grant a new trial absolute, and the Court of Appeals should have reversed. *See James v. Horace Mann Ins. Co.*, 371 S.C. 187, 193, 638 S.E.2d 667, 670 (2006) (“If the amount of the verdict is grossly inadequate or excessive so as to be the result of passion, caprice, prejudice, or some other influence outside the evidence, the trial court must grant a new trial absolute.”) (emphasis added); *Becker v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 339 S.C. 629, 635, 529 S.E.2d 758, 761 (Ct. App. 2000) (“The trial court must set aside a verdict only when it is shockingly disproportionate to the injuries suffered and thus indicates that passion, caprice, prejudice, or other considerations not reflected by the evidence affected the amount awarded.”).

Even if the verdict were considered not to be grossly excessive, it was nonetheless merely excessive for purposes of a new trial *nisi remittitur*. South Carolina’s courts have loosely defined “merely excessive” verdicts as those that are “unduly liberal” under the circumstances. *See Becker*, 339 S.C. at 635, 529 S.E.2d at 761. As previously discussed, McDowell asserts that the verdict amount was so excessive as to shock the conscience of the court and, thus, justify a new trial absolute. But assuming *arguendo* it did not meet that standard, it would still be “merely excessive” so as to warrant a new trial *nisi remittitur*. This is a lower standard that the present circumstances satisfy.

Becker v. Wal-Mart, supra, is instructive on this issue. The following facts from *Becker* were relevant to the eventual appeal:

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