RECEIVED

Oct 23 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM MARLBORO COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Hon. Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-001480

---

Daisy Frederick.....Respondent,

vs.

Daniel Lee McDowell.....Petitioner.

---

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

---

Brian Critzer (S.C. Bar No. 103159)  
Kaye Hearn (S.C. Bar No. 2891)  
WYCHE, P.A.  
807 Gervais Street, Suite 301  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 254-6542  
[bcritzer@wyche.com](mailto:bcritzer@wyche.com)  
[khearn@wyche.com](mailto:khearn@wyche.com)

Attorneys for the Respondent

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. This appeal should be dismissed on jurisdictional grounds because McDowell filed successive post-trial motions and therefore, the notice of appeal was not timely filed.**

It is well settled that the notice of appeal in a civil action must be served on a respondent within thirty days after receipt of the entry of an order of judgment. Timely post-trial motions for JNOV, for a new trial, or to alter or amend the judgment stay the time for appeal until such time as notice of the entry of an order granting or denying the post-trial motions is received; however, the time to serve a notice of appeal is not extended where the subsequent motions are merely restatements of prior motions. Therefore, as a threshold matter, Frederick seeks dismissal of this case because McDowell filed successive post-trial motions prior to serving his notice of appeal, the second of which did not stay the time for appealing.

South Carolina jurisprudence on this issue is clear. Beginning with *Coward Hund* in 1999, South Carolina appellate decisions have recognized, consistent with federal authority and the clear language of Rule 203(b)(1), SCAR, that only a *timely* Rule 59(e) motion stays the time for appeal. *Coward Hund Construction Co. v. Ball Corp.*, 336 S.C. 1, 2-3, 518 S.E.2d 56, 57 (Ct. App. 1999) (holding where a party filed a second post-trial motion seeking clarification of an issue previously raised in an initial post-trial motion, the subsequent notice of appeal was not timely). While *Coward Hund* concerned successive Rule 59(e) motions, its holding was later extended to the precise situation presented here: an initial post-trial motion seeking JNOV, a new trial absolute, and a new trial nisi remittitur, followed by a subsequent post-trial motion captioned under the guise of Rule 59(e), yet virtually a duplicate of the earlier motion. *Collins Music Co. v. IGT*, 353 S.C. 559, 564, 570 S.E.2d 524, 526 (Ct. App. 2002) (“The time for filing appeal is not extended by submitting the same motion under a different caption.”).

In *Quality Trailer Prods. v. CSL Equip. Co.*, this Court expressly approved the rationale of the above decisions of the Court of Appeals. 349 S.C. 216, 220, 562 S.E.2d 615, 617-18 (2002) (“We agree with the rationale of *Coward Hund* and hold that successive new trial motions or motions for JNOV do not toll the time for serving notice of appeal. The time for filing appeal is not extended by submitting the same motion under a different caption.”). The procedural posture of *Quality Trailer* is strikingly similar to the situation presented here. In *Quality Trailer*, following a jury verdict, the defendant made timely post-trial motions for JNOV and for a new trial. By written order, those motions were denied. Thereafter, the defendant filed a motion captioned as a motion to “Alter, Amend, or Reconsider Judgment and Findings Denying Defendant’s Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and Motion for New Trial.” Finding that the second motion literally recited the same arguments previously raised and previously ruled upon by the trial court,

this Court held that the second motion was not, despite its caption, an appropriate Rule 59(e) motion. 349 S.C. at 220, 562 S.E.2d at 618 (“It was simply a successive motion for JNOV and new trial, and thus did not toll the time for serving the notice of appeal.”). Thus, *Quality Trailer* agreed with *Collins Music* in taking *Coward Hund* a step further, extending it to a situation beyond successive Rule 59(e) motions to one nearly identical to that presented here—where an initial timely post-trial motion for JNOV and new trial is followed by a virtually identical second motion captioned as a Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration.

Thereafter, in *Elam v. S.C. Dot*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004), this Court reaffirmed the rationale of *Coward Hund* and *Collins Music* but clarified the limits of this jurisprudence. In *Elam*, immediately following a verdict in favor of the plaintiff, SCDOT made **oral** motions for JNOV, a new trial absolute, and a new trial nisi remittitur. *Id.* at 13, 602 S.E.2d at 774. The trial judge denied the motions in an oral ruling from the bench, and a Form 4 order was thereafter filed. SCDOT thereafter filed a *timely* written motion pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, and that motion was denied in a written order by the trial judge. On appeal, the Court of Appeals *sua sponte* raised the issue of the timeliness of SCDOT’s appeal in light of *Quality Trailer*. This Court granted certiorari following an order of the Court of Appeals dismissing the appeal as untimely. Noting that our rules should neither be written nor interpreted “to create a trap for the unwary lawyer or party,” this Court held that the Court of Appeals had impermissibly extended *Coward Hund* and *Collins Music* to deprive SCDOT of an opportunity to file a Rule 59(e) motion. *Id.* at 25, 602 S.E.2d at 780. Finding that the situation presented in *Elam* was neither factually similar to *Coward Hund* because it involved a first, not a second Rule 59(e) motion nor to *Quality Trailer* or *Collins Music* because SCDOT did not simply resubmit a virtually identical motion raising the same issues on which it had previously obtained a ruling, it reversed the dismissal of the appeal. *Id.* at 26-27,

602 S.E.2d at 781. In other words, this Court held that our procedural rules permit a party one “bite of an apple” in filing a post-trial motion, and that in *Elam*, the defendant did not receive its proverbial one-bite.

Respondent submits that a close examination of the procedural facts of the instant case establish that it is factually similar to both *Collins Music* and *Quality Trailer*, and that the rationale of those decisions require dismissal of the underlying appeal. Following a jury verdict in favor of Frederick, McDowell filed written post-trial motions on February 14, 2018, seeking JNOV, a new trial absolute, a new trial based on the thirteenth juror doctrine, or a new trial nisi remittitur. (App. pp. 57-64). These motions were denied by written order dated May 12, 2020. Thereafter, by motion dated May 21, 2020, McDowell filed a Rule 59(e) motion seeking reconsideration of the prior written order. (App. pp. 66-67). Significantly, this motion specifically stated that it “incorporates by reference and relies upon all the issues, arguments and authorities previously raised in (sic) submitted in support of those motions.” (App. p. 67). Even more telling, the motion specifically stated:

Defendant believes that the Order’s intent, by simply concluding that the “Defendant’s post-trial motions are respectfully denied,” was to deny each and every issue raised by Defendant in his post-trial motions filed on February 14, 2018, including those raised at the hearing on Defendant’s motions on August 12, 2019, and in the supplemental brief filed on August 21 2019. All of those issues were clearly raised to the Court, and the most logical reading of the Court’s Order is that it considered, ruled upon and denied all of those issues. However, in the event that this was not the Court’s intent, Defendant respectfully requests that the Court amend its Order to include rulings specific to each of the issues raised.

(App. p. 66). Thus, McDowell not only rehashes the very same arguments previously made in his earlier post-trial motions by incorporating them by reference, he candidly admits that the trial court’s prior written order considered and ruled upon all of those issues. McDowell’s second post-trial motion, masquerading as a Rule 59(e) motion, was nothing more than a request to revisit the

grounds and arguments made in the earlier motions, which had already been denied in a written order. This is precisely the same situation presented in *Collins Music*, whose holding was specifically approved by this Court in *Elam*. McDowell was essentially asking the trial court to revisit or, at the least, to clarify its prior ruling. McDowell, in making this successive request for precisely the same relief he had already sought in his initial post-trial motion, compromised his right to appeal from the underlying judgment because the finality of the judgment was restored in the trial court's first post-trial order. McDowell cannot save his right to appeal by arguing that he requested a clarification from the trial court. To be sure, the trial judge was not required to provide a detailed analysis on each ground for JNOV or new trial previously raised and ruled upon; that was made crystal clear in *Collins Music*. 353 S.C. at 565, 579 S.E.2d at 527 (stating a trial judge is not required to provide a detailed analysis of all grounds raised and it is sufficient if it was clear from the order that all grounds raised were considered).

Nor does the fact that McDowell raised an issue about a sentence in the initial post-trial order concerning the application of the North Carolina Rules of Evidence prevent McDowell's second post-trial motion from being successive. That issue was not an issue on appeal and is a proverbial red herring; its resolution had absolutely no effect on the underlying judgment.<sup>4</sup> As this Court specifically stated in *Elam*: "An appeal may be barred due to untimely service of the notice of appeal when a party—instead of serving a notice of appeal—files a successive Rule 59(e) motion, *where the trial judge's ruling on the first Rule 59(e) motion does not result in a substantial*

---

<sup>4</sup> While McDowell contended before the court of appeals that the trial court erred in permitting Frederick to enter certain evidence of medical expenses under Rule 414 of the North Carolina Rules of Evidence, this does not change the fact that the court's original order had no bearing on any issues on appeal. There was no need to file a successive post-trial motion to "correct" the court's order because under either the trial court's original order or under McDowell's argument, the result is the same—that Rule 414 of the North Carolina Rules of Evidence applied.

*alteration of the original judgment.*” 361 S.C. at 20, 602 S.E.2d at 778. (emphasis added). This is precisely the situation here. By no means could the mention of the North Carolina Rules of Evidence in the initial post-trial order be considered a substantial alteration of the judgment, and in the familiar words of Chief Judge Alexander Sanders: “whatever doesn't make any difference, doesn't matter.” *McCall v. Finley*, 294 S.C. 1, 4, 362 S.E.2d 26, 28 (Ct. App. 1987).

The procedural posture of this case is markedly different than that presented to this Court in *Elam*, where the appellant only had his proverbial first bite of the apple when he filed his first, written post-trial motion. The facts presented here are much more aligned with the facts in *Quality Trailer* and *Collins Music*. Significantly, in *Elam*, this Court, in reaffirming the principles of *Quality Trailer* and *Collins Music*, took great pains to note that they both involved “written JNOV/new trial motions, a written ruling by the trial court, followed by a first, written, virtually identical Rule 59(e) motion.” 361 S.C. at 19, 602 S.E.2d at 777. The parallels between the facts in *Quality Trailer* and *Collins Music* and this case are striking and require this Court to dismiss this appeal as untimely. This Court has no subject matter jurisdiction over the appeal because the notice of appeal was not timely filed.

**II. Based on extensive evidence of prior and ongoing damages, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court’s denial of Petitioner’s motions for a new trial absolute or a new trial nisi remittitur.**

McDowell argues that because there is insufficient evidence of Frederick’s future damages, the jury’s verdict is excessive. However, the basic premise in his argument is simply wrong. Even assuming, *arguendo*, there was no evidence of future damages, that does not render the verdict excessive. First, there clearly was competent, unobjected to evidence presented of Frederick’s future damages. It was undisputed that the implantation of a rod and screws in her leg and ankle were permanent. She also testified without objection to her continuing pain and need for pain medication at the time of trial. Second, even without the above-mentioned testimony, the evidence

of Frederick’s pain and suffering from the time of the collision to the time of trial—a period of nearly three years—is more than enough to sustain the verdict awarded by the jury. Finally, and perhaps most importantly, this was a general verdict. There was no request by McDowell for a special verdict nor was there any objection to the verdict form submitted. Accordingly, it is impossible to discern from this verdict whether the jury even considered future medical expenses and pain and suffering as an element of damages. Given these three facts, McDowell’s argument is unavailing, and the decision of the Court of Appeals to affirm the verdict should be upheld.

**A. Ample evidence of past damages supports the jury’s decision.**

There is no dispute that Frederick suffered significant injuries that began at the moment of impact. As Frederick testified, she was “trapped” in her vehicle, the front end of McDowell’s car “crushed her legs,” and her arms were “split open” and “shredded” from the glass that had shattered from a window. (App. p. 98, lines 1-14). Glass also pierced her neck and back. (App. p. 98, lines 10-11). She had to be forcibly removed from her vehicle by first responders with a tool that “looked like a chainsaw.” (App. p. 99, lines 6-9). Despite her substantial injuries, she never lost consciousness, and therefore not only suffered conscious pain and suffering throughout her removal from the vehicle and transport to the hospital, but also severe emotional distress. (App. p. 98, lines 12-15). The confusion brought on by her traumatic injuries caused her to believe that one or more of her children were in the car with her at the time of the collision. The jury heard her testify that she initially thought her infant son was with her, and that she even called out for him. Indeed, two Good Samaritans at the scene asked who she kept calling for. (App. p. 97, lines 10-21). When Frederick told them she was calling for her children, they were able to reassure her that the car seat in the back seat was empty, and that her children, thankfully, were not with her.

Once emergency personnel freed her, she was transported by ambulance to the local hospital, but due to the severity of her injuries, she then had to be airlifted to a hospital in Charlotte. (App. p. 99, line 20 - p. 100, 25).<sup>5</sup> There, family members attempted to comfort her, but as they wept upon seeing her, she, too, began weeping. She endured multiple blood transfusions, and she had rods and screws protruding from her leg as a result of her badly fractured femur. She underwent multiple surgeries, was bedridden for nearly nine months, and did not see her children in person out of fear they would be traumatized by seeing her in that condition. (App. p. 101, line 3 - p. 109, line 16). She depended on others for nearly everything—she was wheelchair bound, she could not bathe or use the bathroom by herself,<sup>6</sup> and she had to undergo substantial physical therapy to learn how to walk again. (App. p. 107, line 17 - p. 109, line 14). She could no longer provide for her children by working “a physically demanding job” that required her “to stand for hours a day,” (App. p. 89, lines 12-15). Rather than being able to care for and play with her two-year-old son, her toddler helped wash her back. (App. p. 108, lines 24-25). At trial, she testified of her continued pain, her continued need for pain medication, and her inability to perform physically demanding jobs. Significantly, this testimony came in without objection.

---

<sup>5</sup> The jury also heard that her airlift to Charlotte was the first time she had ever been in a helicopter, which exacerbated her anxiety and mental distress. (App. p. 100, lines 12-21). She also had never been anesthetized for surgery prior to this accident, and she testified that she feared that she might not wake up. (App. p. 102, line 18 - p. 103, line 1). For obvious reasons, McDowell conveniently ignores any psychological impacts Frederick sustained from the crash, but the jury could properly rely on this evidence in assessing whether Frederick suffered any permanent damages. This Court cannot accept McDowell’s argument about the lack of evidence of permanent impairment without impermissibly reweighing the evidence.

<sup>6</sup> The jury heard how Frederick suffered the indignity of using a bedpan for a period of time, followed by the use of a bedside toilet for many months. (App. p. 108, lines 3-18). Frederick testified that even her toddler wanted to help empty her bedpan, which she did not allow. (App. p. 109, lines 1-4).

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